MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE COMMUNITY AND CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD ON 28 NOVEMBER 2023 FROM 7.00 PM TO 9.45 PM

Committee Members Present

Councillors: Chris Johnson (Chair), Peter Dennis (Vice-Chair), David Cornish, Norman Jorgensen, Pauline Jorgensen, Charles Margetts, Alistair Neal, Marie-Louise Weighill and Phil Cunnington

Other Councillors Present

Councillors: Prue Bray and Ian Shenton

Officers Present

Dave Allen (Communications, Engagement and Marketing Manager), Neil Carr (Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist), Graham Ebers (Deputy Chief Executive), Peter Kilkenny (Leisure Consultant), Liam Oliff (Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist), Helen Watson (Director of Children's Services) and Ming Zhang (Assistant Director, Education & SEND)

66. APOLOGIES

An apology for absence was submitted from Councillor Laura Blumenthal.

Councillor Phil Cunnington attended the meeting as a substitute.

67. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 14 November 2023 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair, subject to the addition of Councillor Paul Fishwick to the list of attendees.

68. DECLARATION OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

69. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

In accordance with the agreed procedure the Chair invited members of the public to submit questions to the appropriate Members.

69.1 Nick Dyer asked the Chair the following question: Question

The consultation states that usage of the Centre has declined 26% post-Covid, particularly among the over 60s.

In a response to a Freedom of Information Act Request Council officers gave the following figures for "footfall" at the centre as:

- . Y/E MARCH 19 115,071
- . Y/E MARCH 20 151,577 a spike coinciding with the temporary closure of Carnival Pool facilities
- . Y/E MARCH 21 29,286 Covid affected
- . Y/E MARCH 22 72,785 Covid affected
- . Y/E MARCH 23 105,399 a reduction of less than 10% on the base year.

How were these, <u>very precise</u>, footfall numbers calculated and how was the age-related data collected?

Answer

There is an item in the question which I would like to correct. The figures quoted for the year ending March 2019 – that was the year when the contract was let, so there are two months of figures that you won't find in here. This is a slightly shorter period so there were slightly more people in that year. If I extrapolate that for the full 12 months, it is more like a 24% difference rather than a 10% difference. That is my rough calculation.

The data was collected via the internal management system. All usage at St Crispin's Leisure Centre, including age profile, is captured on the contractor's data management system. Based on the questions posed officers are entirely confident with the data presented.

Supplementary Question

I have spoken to members of clubs who use the centre – Taekwondo, Judo, Badminton, Racquet Ball, etc. They are not required to check in at the centre reception individually when attending their activities. That is confirmed by St Crispin's staff who confirm that they have no idea who is attending. I organise squash doubles sessions twice a week and, while I pay at reception, none of the other players is required to check in or is recorded as being on the premises. We are all over 60. As so many people's presence is not recorded and no one is interrogated on their age, do you accept that the consultation was based on data that was inaccurate and understated?

Supplementary Answer

I cannot answer the last part of the question as I do not know about the data being understated, but it does worry me that, in an area where there are schoolchildren and there is a safeguarding issue, there are people on site who are not registered as being on site. That is another item that came out of the comments you made. I will ask for a written answer to your question which will be added to the Minutes and passed to you.

70. MEMBER QUESTION TIME

There were no Member questions.

71. ST CRISPIN'S LEISURE CENTRE

The Committee considered a report, set out in the Supplementary Agenda, which provided further information on the business case for the proposal to close the St Crispin's Leisure Centre and transfer the asset to the school (Circle Trust) in order to support the delivery of additional school places. This followed the decision of the Committee, at its meeting on 14 November 2023, to request that the relevant Executive Members review the draft Executive report, presented to that meeting, in order to address issues raised by the Committee, viz:

- better protection for the Council's assets;
- clarity on what happens if the demand for school places is a bulge and comes back down afterwards;
- clarity on the operating arrangements for the school holidays and outside of school hours:
- reinforcement of the maintenance arrangements;
- protection for community use going forwards.

Councillor Prue Bray (Executive Member for Children's Services) and Councillor Ian Shenton (Executive Member for Environment, Sport and Leisure) attended the meeting to present the report and answer Member questions. Also in attendance were Graham Ebers (Deputy Chief Executive), Helen Watson (Director of Children's Services), Ginny Rhodes (Chief Executive of the Circle Trust), Andy Hinchliff (Head Teacher at St Crispin's School) and Tony Penge (Operations Manager for Places for Leisure - the Council's contractor).

The report reminded Members that, in June 2023, the Council's Executive had approved a public consultation on the future of the St Crispin's Leisure Centre. The outcomes of the consultation, relating to five options, were reported to the Committee at its meeting on 14 November 2023 in the form of a draft Executive report. Following the issues raised by the Committee, an updated Executive report had been produced which would be considered by the Executive at its meeting on 30 November 2023. The Committee was requested to consider this updated report and make recommendations to the Executive as appropriate.

Graham Ebers introduced the report and highlighted the changes to the Executive report considered at the meeting on 14 November 2023. The most significant change was the addition of an Appendix which set out the Outline Business Case for the future operation of the leisure centre and the proposal to transfer the facility to the school (Circle Trust) in order to support school expansion and the delivery of additional school places in line with the Council's statutory duty relating to secondary school provision.

The Outline Business Case stated that the Council had a statutory duty to provide school places for every child whose parents wanted one. This could involve sending children to schools out of the Borough and/or the provision of additional buildings. The proposals relating to St Crispin's would provide a cost-effective solution whilst protecting existing uses of the leisure centre via a legal agreement with the Circle Trust. The Trust had made a commitment to maintain and develop the leisure centre, support community groups using the centre (including squash users) and to welcome charities and groups who wished to use the site for events and gatherings outside of school hours. This commitment included continued support for the Friday Night Project, the weekly disco/social event for the ARK community.

It was confirmed that, following discussions with the Trust and Places for Leisure, all existing community users outside school hours could be accommodated at the St Crispin's site. Some sports/leisure users could be accommodated at other Places for Leisure sites such as the BXG FIT fitness centre in Peach Place. In relation to the SHINE activity programme for older people, it was confirmed that there had been a decline in the number of participants over the past 18 months. Plans were being developed to relaunch the SHINE programme using a range of suitable venues including the BXG FIT centre.

Places for Leisure had also confirmed that they would support the provision of activities at the Montague Park Community Centre, subject to the Council being able to make the centre financially viable. Members suggested that the financial viability assessment for the Montague Park centre be progressed in order to provide clarity on its potential operation and uses.

It was noted that a small number of squash players currently used the St Crispin's facility during school hours. These users could either move to using the courts outside of school hours or move to other squash providers in the area. It was noted that the disbenefit caused for a small number of squash players had to be balanced against the benefit to

families in the Borough from the provision of additional school places in line with the Council's statutory duty.

In relation to value for money, it was noted that the cost of the proposal to the Council was a £1m contribution to the Circle Trust in order to facilitate the delivery of 55 school places per year over six years. Current projections indicated that these additional places would be needed over the six year period and beyond. The contribution of £1m was felt to be good value for money compared to other options for increasing the number of school places such as new build or the repurposing of other Council-owned property. It was estimated that alternative provision, if identified and depending on timescales, was likely to have a Capital cost over £5m.

In the ensuing discussion, Members raised the following points and questions.

What certainty was there that existing uses of the leisure centre, outside school hours, would continue to be delivered? It was confirmed that the agreement with the Circle Trust would be underpinned by a legal agreement. This would include clauses stipulating that squash provision would continue along with community uses, ongoing maintenance and infrastructure management. Capital investment in the facility would become the responsibility of the Trust. The legal agreement stipulated that, if the Trust wished to end the lease or became insolvent, the asset would be transferred to any incoming trust or would revert to the Council.

Ginny Rhodes confirmed that the Circle Trust was a charity which was committed to working with the local community. This was important as the local community contained many families whose children attended the school. The Trust welcomed innovation and would welcome new users to the centre.

In relation to the provision of additional school places, was St Crispin's the most suitable location or should this be considered as part of the wider strategy across the Borough, i.e. creating extra capacity in areas where demand was highest? It was confirmed that discussions were ongoing with all schools about the potential for extra capacity. However, the proposal for St Crispin's would provide high quality spaces at a value for money cost to the Council, in partnership with a supportive trust. It was also noted that the delivery of parental preference for places meant that children travelled around the Borough and would continue to do so. St Crispin's was a popular school and was regularly over-subscribed.

In relation to the profitability of the St Crispin's leisure centre, what was the current situation? It was confirmed that the centre was not currently making a profit. However, the implications of this for the leisure contract, i.e. the management payment from Places for Leisure to the Council would be considered as part of the assessment of the overall contract over time. This would fluctuate over the life of the contract and would be addressed through the Equalisation Fund. There was no expectation of a negative impact on the Council's Revenue budget relating to the leisure centre.

As discussed at the previous meeting, was there an option for the Council to retain the asset and reach an agreement where the school had use of the centre during school hours and Places for Leisure took over outside of school hours? It was confirmed that hybrid options had been discussed with the Trust and Places for Leisure. Neither felt that such an option would work in practice with, for example, challenges in handing over control and clarity on the responsibilities of both organisations. Ginny Rhodes stated that the Trust

recognised the challenges relating to operating the centre outside school hours, but was committed to delivering on the commitments set out in the report.

Members felt that, if the proposals relating to the leisure centre were approved by the Executive, it would be useful for the Committee to review progress in 2024/25 and to widen this review to other sites in the Borough where schools were involved in the management of sports/leisure facilities.

If the school took over the operation of the leisure centre, what was the likelihood of an increase in charges for users? This was especially relevant as the area around the leisure centre contained some of the highest levels of deprivation in the Borough. Ginny Rhodes confirmed that the Trust was aware of the challenges facing local residents and the need for sensitive pricing at the centre. There was no intention for immediate price increases. The financial situation would be monitored closely by the Trust.

The Chair thanked Ginny Rhodes and Andy Hinchliff for attending the meeting and thanked the Executive Members and officers for the additional work undertaken to provide responses to the points raised by the Committee at its previous meeting.

RESOLVED That:

- 1) the recommendations in the St Crispin's Leisure Centre report to the Executive, on 30 November 2023, be supported;
- 2) the Executive be recommended to request that officers progress the financial viability assessment relating to the Montague Park Community Centre;
- 3) subject to approval by the Executive, progress on the agreement between the Council and the Circle Trust, along with all other agreements involving schools and leisure facilities, be the subject of a report to the Committee within 12 months.

72. LITTER BINS TASK & FINISH GROUP

The Committee considered a report, set out at Agenda pages 13 to 15, which stated that, at its meeting on 2 October 2023, the Committee had agreed to establish a Task & Finish Group to scrutinise the provision and emptying of litter bins across the Borough. The Task and Finish Group would produce a report with recommendations to the Executive.

The report included draft Terms of Reference for the proposed Task & Finish Group for consideration by the Committee. It was proposed that the Task & Finish Group begin its deliberations in early 2024. Members made amendments to the draft Terms of Reference in the report to produce the following:

Purpose - to review the Council's existing policies and procedures relating to the provision and emptying of litter bins across the Borough and make recommendations for improvement.

- To consider the Council's current approach to the provision and emptying of litter bins with the aim of streamlining activity between service areas such as Highways and Country Parks.
- 2. To consider the detailed evidence from the 2023 public consultation on changes and potential savings relating to Street Cleaning and Grounds Maintenance services.

- 3. To consider the views of local stakeholders residents, community groups, Adopt A Street groups and Town and Parish Councils.
- 4. To consider evidence from the Council's contractors and specialist groups such as Keep Britain Tidy.
- 5. To consider opportunities for improved partnership working with Town and Parish Councils in areas such as the Countryside Service.
- 6. To consider examples of best practice in the UK and abroad, including the use of behavioural insights (nudges) to reduce littering.
- 7. To consider potential campaigns to support behaviour change to prevent litter, including fly-tipping in bins, and increasing Anti-Social Behaviour enforcement (e.g. fixed penalties for littering).
- 8. To consider opportunities for commercial sponsorship of litter bins, e.g. shops and food outlets and encouraging businesses to take more responsibility for litter linked to their operations.
- 9. To consider the planning implications relating to litter bins, such as the location of food outlets and associated bins in new developments.
- 10. To consider the scope for financial savings through greater streamlining of provision and more effective partnership working.
- 11. To produce a final report to the Executive with recommendations for improvement and associated financial savings.

RESOLVED That:

- the amended Terms of Reference for the Litter Bins Task & Finish Group be submitted to the next meeting of the Committee, on 19 December 2023, for final approval;
- 2) the Task & Finish Group be comprised of two Liberal Democrat Members, two Conservative Members and one Labour Member;
- 3) the Group Leaders be requested to submit the names of Members to sit on the Task & Finish Group to the next meeting of the Committee;
- 4) the Task & Finish Group begin its deliberations in early 2024.

73. WORK PROGRAMME

The Committee considered its work programme for the remainder of 2023/24.

Members made the following points on the work programme:

 The updated Litter Bins Task & Finish Group Terms of Reference be considered at the next meeting on 19 December 2023.

- 22 January 2024 meeting the VAWG update be a written briefing on progress with specific action points – delivered and planned.
- 22 January 2024 meeting a final Budget Scrutiny wrap-up item be included.
- 4 March 2024 meeting consider making the Combatting Drugs Partnership update a HOSC item.
- 4 March 2024 meeting consider deferring the Flood Risk Management item until later in the year.

RESOLVED: That the work programme, as amended, be approved.

74. ACTION TRACKER

The Committee considered the regular Action Tracker report, set out at Agenda pages 21 to 26.

RESOLVED: That the Action Tracker report be noted.

